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Dedicated to all those who have had the courage to put themselves in harm’s way selflessly to help others. May we continue as a nation to cherish the loyalty, discipline and commitment of those who serve.
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FOREWORD


It gives me great pleasure to write the foreword to this inspirational book. Following the publication of the first authorised volumes, The Victoria Cross and The George Cross: The Complete History, it is wonderful to see the stories of the lives and deeds of some of these most gallant recipients now brought to life in this work. In many cases, it is the ordinariness of a life that demonstrated such extraordinary courage that really serves to inspire. The humanity and character of these most brave individuals has been brought to life by setting their deeds of selfless valour within the wider context of their lives.


This volume brings together stories of courage borne out of the horrors of war and also domestic tragedy. The common thread is the steely commitment of the recipient of the award, to putting their own safety second to saving or protecting the lives of others.


Courage in the face of appalling adversity will never fail to make an impact. In reading these stories of men and women from many walks of life, experience and cultures, I hope that their remarkable examples of selfless courage will continue to inspire.


[image: illustration]


Field Marshal The Lord Bramall KG GCB OBE MC
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SERGEANT JOHN BASKEYFIELD VC


Introduced by Mark Pougatch


One can only imagine what the father of ‘Jack’ Baskeyfield must have felt when George VI pinned his son’s posthumous VC to his chest on 17 July 1945. Equally, we can but imagine how we ourselves would have reacted in the circumstances in which Sergeant Baskeyfield found himself during the Battle of Arnhem ten months earlier. Baskeyfield was a twenty-one-year-old butcher from Stoke-on-Trent who commanded two anti-tank guns in a battle later immortalised in the film A Bridge Too Far. Ignoring his own injuries, outmanned and outgunned and under intense fire, he would surely have known what his own fate was to be, but his courage and commitment were unwavering. I would suggest this is not a well-known story outside army circles but it is an extraordinary one nonetheless.


Operation MARKET GARDEN, the attempt by Allied airborne troops to seize a succession of river crossings and thereby open a road corridor though Holland, across the Rhine and into the heart of Germany in September 1944, was one of the boldest missions of the war. The hardest task, seizing and holding the great road bridge over the Lower Rhine at Arnhem, was given to the 10,000 or so men of the British 1st Airborne Division. These so-called Red Devils were told they would be relieved after forty-eight hours; they eventually fought a more numerous and better-armed opponent for eight days before the remnants were ordered to withdraw. More than 7,500 were killed or captured.


Acts of heroism during this week of desperate fighting at Arnhem were commonplace, but only five were thought worthy of the highest award for gallantry, the Victoria Cross. Four were given to officers and one to a non-commissioned officer, twenty-one-year-old Lance Sergeant Jack Baskeyfield of the 2nd Battalion, The South Staffordshire Regiment (or 2nd South Staffs). Baskeyfield’s example of courage and self-sacrifice on 20 September 1944, the fourth day of the battle, was among the most extraordinary of the whole war.


Born in the Potteries town of Burslem, Stoke-on-Trent, on 18 November 1922, Baskeyfield was one of three sons of Daniel, a sliphouse worker, and his wife Minnie. He was educated at St John’s and Corbridge Church Day Schools before starting work as an errand boy in the local Co-op Butchers Shop. An ambitious young man, he studied at night school while also working as a butcher, and his dedication paid off when he was appointed manager of the Co-op Butchers Shop in Pitshill, north of Burslem, at the age of just eighteen. A few months later, in February 1942, he was called up for military service and joined the South Staffordshire Regiment.1


Baskeyfield’s first posting was to the 11th South Staffords, a training unit. But in early February 1943, by now a lance corporal, he switched to his regiment’s regular 2nd Battalion that, eighteen months earlier, had become part of the newly formed 1st Airlanding (or glider-transported) Brigade. The inspiration for these first British airborne troops was the successful use of German paratroopers during the Wehrmacht’s invasion of the Low Countries in May 1940. Within weeks of Winston Churchill declaring in June that ‘we ought to have a corps of at least 5,000 parachute troops’, a jump school was established at RAF Ringway, near Manchester.2


The 1st Parachute Brigade became operational in January 1942. By then it had been nominally joined by the 1st Airlanding Brigade to form the 1st Airborne Division. However, the lack of troop-carrying gliders hampered the 1st Airlanding Brigade’s training, and it was not ready for battle until after Baskeyfield had become an airborne soldier in February 1943. His airborne instruction would have included fitness, insertion techniques, familiarity with weapons and tactics. To be issued with the famous maroon beret was to be confirmed as the member of a corps d’elite. Nothing could have prepared Baskeyfield for his first glider journey into action. A fellow airlanding soldier recalled: ‘Who would like being cooped up in a confined space for hours wearing full kit with vomit sloshing around their feet, providing a nice slow target for ground fire, awaiting the crash landing – and then having to fight a battle?’3


After his own terrifying experience of glider warfare, American war correspondent Walter Cronkite wrote: ‘If you’ve got to go into combat, don’t go by glider. Walk, crawl, parachute, swim, float – anything. But don’t go by glider!’4


In May 1943, the 1st Airborne Division was shipped to North Africa to prepare for the invasion of Sicily, its first operation. It was now composed of three parachute brigades – the 1st, 2nd and 4th – and Baskeyfield’s 1st Airlanding Brigade.


In the forthcoming operation, the glider troops were given the vital task of seizing the Ponte Grande, a bridge at Syracuse. With British transport in short supply, they would be flown in 136 American Waco CG-4 gliders, better known as the ‘Hadrian’, and still in their packing cases when they reached North Africa. Described by one pilot as ‘a dark green blunt-nosed dragonfly’, the Waco was of steel, wood and fabric construction, forty-nine feet long and with a wingspan of eighty-four feet. It could carry thirteen men, a jeep and its crew or cargo.5 It was wholly unfamiliar to the men from the Glider Pilot Regiment who were to fly them into Sicily; nor had these pilots trained in night flying, though the landing was to take place in darkness, and in a location crisscrossed with rocks and stone walls. When the chief pilot pointed out the risks to the commander of 1st Airborne, he was told to get on with it or resign. He opted for the former.


‘Unsurprisingly,’ wrote the author of one of the foremost books on the development of Britain’s airborne troops, ‘the landing on the night of 9–10 July 1943 was a fiasco, partly due to light winds, alert anti-aircraft defences and a light mist over the landing area’. Of the 144 gliders sent on the mission, 78 ditched in the sea after their inexperienced pilots released them too early, 2 diverted to Malta and Tunisia, 10 returned to base and 42 landed along a twenty-five-mile stretch of the Sicilian coast.6


Baskeyfield’s glider – designated Chalk 54A – was among the seventy-eight that crashed into the water. One of those on board reported: ‘Bumpy flight. Glider released 2230hrs at unknown height. Pilot said, just after releasing, “We are at 600 feet”, next moment glider landed in sea about 8 miles from the coast. All men got out of glider, but both pilots and 7 ORs missing.’ Only seven of the fifteen occupants survived, Baskeyfield among them, after waiting eight and a half hours to be rescued by a naval launch.7 The brigade as a whole suffered 313 fatalities, including 225 drowned in ditched gliders; a further 101 of the 272 pilots were killed, wounded or missing.8


In December 1943, after a short time on the Italian mainland, the bulk of 1st Airborne Division – bar the 2nd Parachute Brigade which remained in the Mediterranean as an independent formation – returned to Britain. Incredibly, the man now appointed to command the division, Major General ‘Roy’ Urquhart, was a distinguished infantry officer but with no airborne experience. He was given the job because he was a protégé of General Sir Bernard Montgomery who would command the D-Day landings.


Baskeyfield’s 1st Airlanding Brigade, billeted in Rutlandshire and south Lincolnshire, spent much of the next few months absorbing and training new recruits. Some historians have criticised the 1st Airborne’s parachute brigades for not training as hard as they could have during the first half of 1944; but not the glider troops. ‘By the end of May 1944,’ wrote William F. Buckingham, ‘1st Airlanding Brigade had carried out no less than eight tactical exercises, seven of which involved most or all of the brigade, and at least two of which used large numbers of gliders.’9


On 20/21 March, for example, Baskeyfield’s 2nd South Staffs carried out Exercise Goshawk with the 7th King’s Own Scottish Borderers (KOSB), and towards the end of the month acted as enemy for 4th Parachute Brigade’s Exercise Silk. The average member of the 1st Airlanding Brigade ‘spent almost twice as much time engaged in tactical training as his parachute counterparts and participated in twice as many separate exercises’. Events at Arnhem would show, moreover, that ‘parachute machismo was a poor substitute for the systematic training undertaken by 1st Airlanding Brigade’.10


It was also during this period that the 1st Airlanding’s Infantry battalions reorganised their heavy weapon Support Companies. Henceforth these companies were equipped with quick-firing 6-pounder anti-tank guns (towed by jeeps), Vickers heavy machine guns and 3-inch mortars. Promoted in quick succession to full corporal in June 1944 and lance sergeant a month later, Baskeyfield was given command of a section of 2-pounder guns in the Anti-Tank Platoon of his battalion’s Support Company. Manned by a team of six men, each one of these guns was capable, with its new armour piercing rounds, of knocking out even the heaviest German tanks at close range.11


Between D-Day, 6 June, and 5 September 1944, the 1st Airborne Division was considered for no fewer than fourteen operations. All were cancelled. The fifteenth – originally named COMET, and later MARKET GARDEN – was scheduled for 8 September, but later postponed so that more troops could be assigned. The key meeting was between US General Dwight D. Eisenhower, the Supreme Allied Commander, and his British subordinate Field Marshal Sir Bernard Montgomery, commanding the 21st Army Group, at the latter’s headquarters at Laeken in Belgium on 10 September. At this meeting, Montgomery persuaded Eisenhower to let him implement a narrow thrust into Holland as far as Arnhem, and thus open a ‘back door’ into Germany. To do so he would use three and a half airborne divisions – the US 82nd and 101st and the British 1st Airborne Divisions, and the 1st Polish Parachute Brigade – to seize a succession of river crossings and open a corridor for the tanks, followed by the infantry, of the British Second Army. Once across the Rhine at Arnhem, Montgomery’s troops could wheel east, outflank the fortified Siegfried Line and penetrate the German industrial region of the Ruhr.


With the conference over, Montgomery spoke to Lieutenant General Frederick ‘Boy’ Browning, Deputy Chief of the First Airborne Army, from which the three divisions would be drawn. He told Browning that his paratroopers and glider forces would have to secure, intact, five major bridges – including (from south to north) crossings over the Rivers Maas, Waal and Lower Rhine – over a distance of sixty-four miles between the Dutch border and Arnhem.


‘How long will it take the armour to reach us?’ asked Browning, pointing to the most northerly bridge at Arnhem.


‘Two days,’ replied Montgomery.


‘We can hold it for four,’ said Browning. ‘But, sir, I think we might be going a bridge too far.’12


In truth, both Montgomery and Browning had a vested interest in this risky operation taking place: the former because he was determined to wrest back from his US rival, General George C. Patton, the initiative for the Allied advance into Germany; and the latter because he lacked operational experience and needed to establish his credentials as an airborne commander before the war ended. It was for this reason that Browning downplayed viable intelligence reports that two battered SS panzer divisions – the 9th and 10th – were refitting in the Arnhem area and refused to include them in intelligence summaries sent to the airborne troops.13


1st Airborne Division, with the 1st Polish Brigade under its command, was given the task of capturing the most northerly objective: the great concrete and steel bridge over the Lower Rhine at Arnhem (a railway bridge and pontoon bridge were also to be secured). Once a nearby airstrip had been taken, the 52nd (Lowland) Division would be flown in as reinforcements, giving a total of 35,000 troops. However, because of a shortage of both powered aircraft and gliders, and the refusal of US pilots to fly more than one lift a day, it would take three days to transport all these troops to Arnhem. Even then, without tanks or heavy artillery, they would be extremely vulnerable to counter-attack.14


The mission became even tougher when RAF planners refused to allow drops close to the bridge at Arnhem because of inaccurate reports that German flak defences were too strong and the land to the south was marshy and unsuitable for gliders. So Major General Urquhart, the new and inexperienced commander of 1st Airborne, was forced to choose landing and drop zones on heathland and pasture to the west and northwest of Arnhem, a distance of between seven and nine miles from the bridge. It was a fatal decision that would give ‘the German defenders ample time to deduce 1st Airborne’s objective and react accordingly, and thus robbed the comparatively lightly armed troops of their sole advantage of surprise’; and it would prove to be ‘the single most significant factor in the failure of Market Garden’.15


Urquhart’s final plan was for two brigades to land on D-Day, 17 September 1944: Brigadier ‘Pip’ Hick’s 1st Airlanding Brigade would guard the drop zones, while Brigadier Gerald Lathbury’s 1st Parachute Brigade hurried in to Arnhem to secure its road, railway and pontoon bridges. Spearheading this assault would be Major Freddie Gough’s motorised Reconnaissance Squadron of 275 men with jeeps and motorcycles. Their job was to hold the bridge until the rest of the brigade arrived.


Brigadier John (‘Shan’) Hackett’s 4th Parachute Brigade and the balance of the 1st Airlanding Brigade would arrive the next day, followed by Major General Stanisław Sosabowski’s 1st Polish Parachute Brigade a day later. From the start, Sosabowski thought the ‘mission cannot possibly succeed’ and that it ‘would be suicide to attempt it’. Browning reassured him: ‘But, my dear Sosabowski, the Red Devils and the gallant Poles can do anything!’


At 9.45 a.m. on Sunday 17 September, the first of more than 2,000 planes, gliders and tugs – carrying 20,000 men, 511 vehicles, 330 artillery pieces and 590 tons of equipment – took off from twenty-three airfields in southern England. They had been preceded before dawn by 1,400 Allied bombers. Escorting these huge formations were nearly 1,500 fighters and fighter-bombers. In three columns, each ten miles wide and 100 miles long, the huge armada headed towards Holland. It was the greatest air operation in history.16


Sergeant Baskeyfield and the men of the 2nd South Staffs assigned to the first lift – Battalion HQ, B and D Companies, and part of the Support Company – were towed in plywood Horsa gliders, sixty-seven feet long and with an eighty-eight-foot wingspan, by Albemarle bombers from RAF Manston in Kent. The Horsas could deliver twenty-five soldiers, combinations of jeeps, trailers and guns, or up to three and a half tons of cargo. Private William Hewitt of the 2nd South Staffs’ Mortar Platoon recalled:




12 noon: all gliders airborne. We could see people leaving their homes and churches to watch this great ‘armada’ . . . At 2.00 pm our pilot called ‘Tow rope released’ – height was about 1500 feet – our first glide down was to 500 ft. Pilot now drops wing flaps which all but brought us to a halt in mid-air – the pilot must now pick his landing ‘spot’ (no second chances) and no time to hang about. Quickly we disembark – ‘first’ out take up defensive positions around their glider to protect the other Airborne troops, as I did. Unloading took place – hand-carts [containing the mortars and their ammunition] being pushed to the nearest ‘cover’ at the edge of the field . . . A little time to assess our position – and no enemy gunfire (good). We noted that some gliders were not so lucky, some crashed into trees or turned over – medical orderlies helping where necessary. It appeared most of the 2nd South Staffs landed ok and it is our task to protect the landing area for the ‘second drop’ and supplies to take place at 10.00 am 18th Sept.17





By mid-afternoon, 5,191 men of the 1st Airborne’s two spearhead brigades had landed safely. But thirty-six of the 320 gliders had failed to arrive, and among the missing equipment was the transport for one of the four troops of Major Gough’s Reconnaissance Squadron. Gough therefore set off with just three troops, leaving the fourth to follow on foot. Also converging on Arnhem by separate routes were the three battalions of Lathbury’s 1st Parachute Brigade. But they soon ran into units of the 9th SS Panzer Division which, as early as 1.30 p.m., had been ordered to secure the Arnhem road bridge and destroy the enemy troops to its west. Only Lieutenant Colonel John Frost’s 2nd Battalion, The Parachute Regiment (or 2nd Paras) was able to fight its way through this blocking force to the northern end of the road bridge where, shortly after 8 p.m., it was joined by some of Gough’s troops, a platoon from the 3rd Paras and Brigade Headquarters (minus Brigadier Lathbury, who had linked up with the bulk of the 3rd Paras), a total of 700 men. But Frost was effectively cut off from the rest of the division and German armour was on its way.18


General Urquhart should have assigned fresh troops to reinforce Frost, but a loss of radio contact had caused him to leave 1st Airborne HQ at Landing Zone Z in the late afternoon to assess the situation with his forward units, and he was forced to spend the night of 17/18 September with Brigadier Lathbury and the remnants of the 3rd Paras on the edge of Oosterbeek, a village on the outskirts of Arnhem. So responsibility passed to the next senior officer, Brigadier ‘Pip’ Hicks of the 1st Airlanding Brigade, who assigned the 2nd South Staffs to attempt a breakthrough to the bridge the following morning.


Though only at half-strength – the remaining portion was due to arrive later that day in the second lift – the battalion left its position north of the village of Wolfheze at 10.30 a.m. and moved towards Oosterbeek with the jeeps and light armour in the lead, followed by the rifle platoons and the mortars. But the going was tough and, harassed by German fighter planes, snipers and machine guns, the 2nd South Staffs took around seven hours to cover the six miles to a point close to St Elizabeth’s Hospital on the outskirts of Arnhem where they joined the remnants of the 1st Paras. ‘For some reason we halt here for the night,’ recorded Private William Hewitt. ‘This stop, I feel, was a mistake by a our Commander, for whilst we lay all night at the roadside, the enemy was moving in more troops and armour between us and the bridge.’19


The halt did, however, give the 11th Paras and the remaining portion of the 2nd South Staffs (A, C and the balance of the Support Companies), newly arrived from the UK, the chance to catch up. This time the 2nd South Staffs had taken off from Broadwell airfield in Oxfordshire in Horsas towed by Wellington bombers. A machine-gunner in the Support Company, Lance Corporal Jack Bird, recalled:




The sky seemed full of gliders on either side of us, and we swept along in formation; the weather being perfect . . . Then we were over the Dutch coast (the time being about one o’clock) and below could be seen the flooded areas, and of course down went one or two gliders. We were encountering flak and it could be seen coming up at us, but luckily our glider was not hit. We carried on to our DZ which we reached at about two o’clock, and after being cast off by our tug plane . . . Gliders lay all over the place – many had come to grief and some were on fire, but the majority seemed to have comedown OK. Out we jumped and took up defensive positions around the glider whilst the kit was unloaded.





Once on the ground, the 2nd South Staffs were sent after the rest of their battalion. Bird ‘was struck by the colourful and picturesque appearance of the houses, which from the air had a doll’s house look’. He added:




The Dutch people were genuinely glad to welcome us and greeted us with cheers and showered us with fruit and pointed out the direction that the Germans had taken. All along the road were signs of a hasty retreat by Jerry – kit and equipment all over the place. Saw a German staff car wrecked at a crossroad, the four occupants inside dead, one sprawled grotesquely out of the door which he must have flung open in an attempt to get out.20





Among the dead was General Friedrich Kussin, Arnhem’s town commandant, whose staff car had been ambushed on the 17th by men of the 3rd Paras.


As Bird and the other reinforcements approached Arnhem, they were targeted by snipers and had to move ‘warily’. They finally made contact with the tail of their battalion near the hospital at around midnight.21


The following morning, 19 September, by which time a small German withdrawal had allowed General Urquhart to rejoin 1st Airborne’s new HQ in the Hotel Hartenstein in Oosterbeek, all three battalions at the hospital made a final attempt to reach the bridge. None got through. The 2nd South Staffs got as far as the Municipal Museum, 600 yards from their start point, before intense fire from mortars, assault guns and tanks stopped their advance. ‘By late afternoon,’ writes Buckingham, ‘it was all over and the South Staffs had been destroyed piecemeal, apart from one company which had been held back near the 11th Parachute Battalion’s lines after its commanding officer was killed. Most of the remainder were taken prisoner . . . although some scattered groups and individuals managed to escape to the west.’22


Among the survivors was the machine-gunner Lance Corporal Bird who remembered hitching a lift on a jeep, part of ‘a long column of vehicles pulling out of Arnhem in the direction of Oosterbeek’. When the column was fired on, Bird continued on foot to Oosterbeek where a defensive perimeter was being formed around the Hartenstein Hotel. ‘There,’ he recalled, ‘in a dugout on the bank of a stream in front of the old village church, I met up with some of my mob. I decided to “muck in” with them as I could not see any sign of my platoon. Everybody was “digging in” and didn’t need any encouragement either. Personally, the deeper the better.’23


Sergeant Baskeyfield and his two anti-tank guns had been kept back from the final advance on the bridge and missed the debacle at the museum. Like Bird, they were ordered to join the defensive screen east of the church, under the command of Major Dickie Lonsdale of the 11th Paras, a total force of around 400 men.


Early on Wednesday, 20 September, the remaining 2nd South Staffs in ‘Lonsdale Force’ were withdrawn a couple of hundred yards back to the main defensive perimeter, leaving the battalion’s machine-gunners and anti-tank guns to assist the 11th Paras in the defence of a T-junction on the Benedendorpsweg. Baskeyfield’s two guns faced up the Acacialaan, a road that joined the Benedendorpsweg from the north, and covered any enemy approach down this road and from open ground to the north-east. His right flank – to the east – was guarded by another anti-tank gun. Most of the paratroopers were posted in nearby houses.24


Soon after the departure of the riflemen, the Germans attacked Baskeyfield’s position with infantry, tanks and self-propelled guns. Acting with ‘coolness and daring’, and with ‘complete disregard for his own safety’, the twenty-one-year-old former butcher allowed the tanks to advance down the Acacialaan to within 100 yards of his guns before ordering his crews to open fire. They eventually knocked out ‘two Tiger tanks and at least one self-propelled gun’, but the counter-fire killed and badly wounded the crews of both guns, and Baskeyfield himself was severely wounded in the leg. Despite this, he ‘refused to be carried to the Regimental Aid Post and spent his time attending to his gun and shouting encouragement to his comrades in neighbouring trenches’.


After a short interval the Germans attacked ‘with even greater ferocity than before, under cover of intense mortar and shell fire’. Manning one gun ‘quite alone’ – loading, aiming and firing it, a task normally carried out by six men – Baskeyfield ‘continued to fire round after round at the enemy until his gun was put out of action’. His action, according to his citation, ‘was the main factor in keeping the enemy tanks at bay’, and ‘the fact that the surviving men in his vicinity were held together and kept in action was undoubtedly due to his magnificent example and outstanding courage’. Again and again, ‘enemy attacks were launched’ and then ‘driven off’, thanks to Baskeyfield.


Even after the gun he was manning was rendered useless, the badly wounded young sergeant would not withdraw from the fight. Instead he ‘crawled, under intense enemy fire, to another 6-pounder gun nearby, the crew of which had been killed, and proceeded to man it single-handed’. As he was about to engage a Stug III self-propelled gun – a 75mm cannon mounted on a tank chassis – another soldier ‘crawled across open ground to assist him but was killed almost at once’. Undeterred, Baskeyfield ‘succeeded in firing two rounds at the self-propelled gun, scoring one direct hit which rendered it ineffective’. This extraordinarily brave man was about to fire a third shot when a shell fired from another tank exploded near his gun, killing him instantly.25


Shortly after Baskeyfield’s death almost all the houses occupied by the paratroopers were now ablaze, and Major Lonsdale withdrew the survivors to the main perimeter. They were covered by fire from Baskeyfield’s comrades in the support arms of the 2nd South Staffs. ‘It was a near run thing,’ noted the battalion war diary, ‘as the last 6 pdr passed the road junction . . . as a Tiger tank approached 25 yds away to the north.’26


That evening, in an epic assault, the US 82nd Airborne Division and the tanks of the British Guards Armoured Division captured the road bridge over the River Waal at Nijmegen (the railway bridge was also captured intact). But instead of pressing on – with the 10th SS Panzer Division in temporary disarray and the eleven-mile stretch of road to Arnhem open – the leading tanks were halted while infantry support was brought forward.


By the time they got underway, the following morning, the 2nd Paras’ heroic stand at the north end of Arnhem’s road bridge had come to an end. More than half of the defenders had been killed or wounded, and most of the survivors were captured. Asked to hold the bridge for forty-eight hours, they had managed to do so for three days and four nights. No sooner was it back in their hands than the Germans rushed reinforcements over the bridge to form a defensive line at Elst, four miles to the south.


Later that day Polish parachutists were dropped south of the Lower Rhine, opposite Urquhart’s defensive perimeter at Oosterbeek. Only 250 men made it across the river to bolster the defence. Under constant shell and mortar fire, weakened by persistent attacks from infantry, tanks and self-propelled guns, the pocket held by the 1st Airborne was constantly diminishing. The end came during the night of 25 September when the able-bodied survivors of Urquhart’s command were paddled across the river to safety. Of the 10,005 men who had been deployed on the north bank, only 1,741 officers and men of the 1st Airborne, 422 glider pilots and 160 Polish parachutists escaped. Total casualties were 1,200 killed and 6,378 missing, wounded and captured. German losses were 3,300 men, including 1,100 dead.27


Baskeyfield’s body was buried in a temporary grave but never found after the war. He is commemorated on the Groesbeek Memorial, Netherlands, and on the Burslem War Memorial in Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire. His posthumous Victoria Cross was pinned on his father by King George VI on 17 July 1945. It currently resides in the Museum of the Staffordshire Regiment at Lichfield. The citation concludes: ‘The superb gallantry of this N.C.O. is beyond praise. During the remaining days at Arnhem stories of his valour were a constant inspiration to all ranks. He spurned danger, ignored pain and, by his supreme fighting spirit, infected all who witnessed his conduct with the same aggressiveness and dogged devotion to duty which characterized his actions throughout.’28
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SECOND LIEUTENANT DONALD BELL VC


Introduced by Sir Bobby Charlton CBE


I feel very honoured to introduce the story of Donald Bell VC. The quickest players I played against were Willie Johnston (Rangers and Scotland), Arthur Duncan (Hibernian and Scotland) and Steve Kindon (Burnley and Wolves). They were fabulous players but their names are now largely lost in time. Donald Bell VC was a very fast defender several generations before me but I hope his name will never be forgotten. When I read this story I saw the way he used his lightning speed to cover the ground and I felt humbled and inspired. I sincerely hope you may feel something of this, too.


When people think of football and the First World War, they usually think of the Christmas Day truce of 1914. This was an early and illusory moment of peace in the Great War – the early recruits signing up in the belief they’d be home by Christmas were now discovering the harsher realities of a conflict with no immediate end in sight. With the weather crisp and cold, the singing of carols on both sides of the trenches was followed on Christmas Day by a meeting in no man’s land and a sharing of gifts. The playing of football, rather than being a large or organised game, was more of a succession of smaller kickabouts – a spontaneous moment that over the years has developed in the public consciousness into a single match (such as in Paul McCartney’s ‘Pipes of Peace’ video or Sainsbury’s Christmas advertisements). In fact, the kickabouts were anything but organised: generals, concerned it might lead to questioning among the troops about the war, swiftly decreed that anyone involved in something similar again would be court-martialled.


It wasn’t only in no man’s land that football was brought to a halt. Following on swiftly from the declaration of war had come the start of the 1914–15 season back in England. This divided opinion sharply. In a piece for football periodical The Blizzard in 2016, Alexander Jackson describes how some, such as manager Tom Maley, thought that football ‘fulfils a function and purpose useful’.1 Others – described by one football writer as ‘political cartoonists, kill-joys, conscriptionists, anti-sports and many others whom the deadliness of the fighting had somewhat unbalanced’2 – wanted the league stopped. By the end of the season, the FA decided that continuing the league was not viable in the circumstances and suspended professional football until the end of the war.


Even within this one season of football during the First World War, the game wasn’t quite the same as it had been before. One club in particular that had been looking forward to the new season, before world events took over, had been that of Tom Maley’s Bradford Park Avenue. Formed as recently as 1908, the club had won its first ever promotion to the First Division, the Football League’s top tier at the time. However it was a season that they would start at less than full strength as they, and many other clubs, found their squads depleted by players wanting to sign up and fight. One player who went to war was Joseph Maley, the son of the aforementioned Bradford manager. He would be killed by shrapnel on a trench raid in May 1915.


Another was the defender Donald Simpson Bell. ‘At the outbreak of war,’ Maley remembered, ‘he spoke strongly about those who could go, ought to, and didn’t. When he learned that my son had joined up he was mighty pleased.’3 Bell’s own footballing career was only just beginning when he went to war and he had yet to make his mark. Yet he remains one of the most well-known footballers of the period for somewhat different reasons: he is the only professional footballer to have been awarded the Victoria Cross.


Rather than the usual First World War tale of soldiers playing football, then, this is the converse: the story, rather, of a footballer who became a soldier, and one whose bravery resulted in his being awarded the highest of honours.


* * *


Donald Bell’s prowess as a footballer was apparent from an early age. Born in Harrogate, Yorkshire, in December 1890, his sporting ability was noticeable at both his first school, St Peter’s, and then at Knaresborough Grammar School, where he also won colours at cricket, hockey, rugby and swimming. Football, though, was his passion and he had a combination of physical attributes to help him. Archie White, a schoolboy friend who would also go on to be awarded the Victoria Cross in the First World War, said of his friend that ‘he had the build of a hammer thrower; he could never have been a runner. Yet he had a unique gift of acceleration; he could start from zero on the centre line, be in top gear in two strides, and cover thirty, forty and fifty yards at the speed of a sprinter on a running track. That is what made him so valuable as a footballer.’


Another fellow pupil, A. A. Thompson, also wrote about Bell and his schooldays in his book The Exquisite Burden. There may be an element of artistic licence in his descriptions, and, indeed, Bell, like the others in the book, is given a pseudonym (Tom Leyland). But the essence of the person he is describing echoes that of White’s description:




It was not strange that small boys held their breath, for this was the great Tom Leyland himself, a genial giant and already, at sixteen, a figure of heroic legend. He bestrode the petty world of school football like a colossus, only turning out for the First Eleven on Wednesday; on Saturdays he played full-back for the town team. His physical strength was enormous, so was his cheerful good nature.4





This description would later be voiced by his Bradford manager, Tom Maley: ‘he was about six feet tall and when fit about 13 st. 8lbs. With it all he was most gentle.’5


Even from a young age, Bell’s career was shaped by a combination of sport and education. While at school, the teenage Bell also played for local sides Starbeck, Mirfield United and most noticeably Bishop Auckland (then one of the strongest teams in the Northern League). Then, while at Westminster Training College, studying to be a teacher, he turned out for Crystal Palace (at the time in the Southern League First Division, which after the war became the third tier of the Football League).


Having completed his teacher training, Bell went back north to Harrogate, where he had a job at Starbeck County School as assistant master. His fledgling football career now took him to Newcastle United. Newcastle were one of the powerhouses of English football in the early twentieth century, winning the league three times between 1904 and 1909 and reaching the FA Cup Final five times between 1905 and 1911. For Bell to play for the team as an amateur, then, was testament to his abilities, even if his time there confirmed his role as a defender: in one match, he was played up front to make the most of his pace, but after missing a number of opportunities was reshuffled back to his usual position for the second half.


It was in defence that Bell excelled, and it was this skill that led to him joining Bradford Park Avenue for the 1912–13 season. Bradford Park Avenue, nestled firmly in the Second Division, weren’t as high flying as Newcastle, but the offer came with two important caveats: first, they offered more ‘boot money’ than Newcastle (£10 a month); and, second, it allowed Bell to play rugby and cricket alongside his teaching. It also meant that he was joining a team who were on the up. Bradford had hired Tom Maley as manager in 1910, two years after the founding of the club. Maley had a strong track record, winning the Second Division title and the FA Cup as manager of Manchester City. Changing the club’s kit to the same green and white hoops of Glasgow Celtic, he was also in the process of turning the club around as well, guiding them to the First Division by 1914.


Bell played for Bradford for two seasons, the second as a full-time professional, having decided to quit teaching to focus on his football. In this second season, when the club were pushing for promotion (they eventually finished runners-up), Bell’s own season was more mixed. At the start of the campaign, he was kept out of the team by another right-back. However, when he got his opportunity to play – first against Leicester Fosse and then Wolverhampton Wanderers – he was particularly impressive: Bradford won the first match 3–2, pushing them up to fourth; against Wolves, one of the promotion favourites, they lost by a single goal, but their defence was praised in the subsequent match reports. Bell would repeat this form away at Notts County in January: County were the league leaders and Bradford came away with an important draw. This came at a personal price for Bell, however: he picked up an injury that ruled him out for the rest of the season. As one newspaper noted, ‘Had it not been for an accident he would probably have secured a regular place in the side. Indeed, some of those displays, particularly those in the matches with Notts County at Trent Bridge and Wolverhampton Wanderers at Molineux, were good enough for any country.’6


With Bradford promoted, Bell was set to test himself against the best players in the land and see if his displays justified the praise. Events on the Continent, though, were to take his life in a different direction. ‘I have given the subject some very serious thought,’ he wrote to the club, ‘and have now come to the conclusion I am duty bound to join the ranks. Will you therefore kindly ask the directors of the Bradford Football Club to release me from my engagement?’ The club agreed, and Bell became the first professional footballer to enlist.


* * *


To begin with, Bell’s war experience echoed the frustration of many of those recruits desperate to serve. Having joined A Company of the 9th Battalion, the West Yorkshire Regiment, Bell found himself in Wisley, Surrey, where the battalion was based, and stuck in a seemingly endless cycle of training exercises.


In May 1915, the regiment was at camp at Belton Park, Grantham, when Bell came across his old schoolfriend Archie White. White, too, had enlisted at the outbreak of war and was now a junior officer in the Yorkshire Regiment (The Green Howards). Aware of his friend’s qualities, he was surprised to find that Bell hadn’t been commissioned and insisted on introducing him to his Commanding Officer, Lieutenant Colonel E. H. Chapman. ‘Colonel Chapman took one look at him,’ White later recalled, ‘and was so impressed that he recommended him for a commission on the spot.’7


Bell, who by this point was a lance corporal, began his officer training. He originally hoped to join White in the Yorkshire Regiment’s 6th Battalion, but timing worked against him. By the time he had completed his training, the 6th Battalion, who had been on standby to go to the Dardanelles, were already in Gallipoli. Bell instead was posted to the 9th Battalion as temporary second lieutenant. He would never see his schoolfriend Archie White again.


Bell finally made it to France in August 1915. Arriving in Boulogne, the battalion went first to Northbécourt and then Vieux-Berquin, where training continued until the end of September. From here, the battalion continued on to Bois Grenier on the Armentières front, their base for the next six months. Here, the battalion mixed moments of duty with periods of calm and training – the front was a comparatively quiet one, and action was relatively infrequent. One of the first real tastes of action came early on 1 January 1916, when a raiding party made up of men from the 10th Battalion, the Northumberland Fusiliers and the 9th Battalion raided the German trenches at Rue-du-Bois. Bell was not one of the 100 men from the 9th Battalion chosen for the attack, but spent the raid manning the trenches: this turned out to be the more dangerous of the two roles, with heavy bombardment leading to four men being killed and another twenty wounded (by contrast, the raiders returned relatively unharmed).


Two months later, Bell’s unit was transferred south again, this time to the Souchez sector, where they took over from French troops at the Notre-Dame-de-Lorette spur. In May, Bell was granted ten days’ leave, which he took to look after important business back at home: marrying Rhoda Bonson in the town of Kirkby Stephen, Cumbria, on 5 June. Upon his return, his unit had moved south again, along with the rest of the entire 23rd Division (the 9th Battalion was part of the 69th Brigade, which, together with the 68th and 70th Brigades, made up the division). This was in preparation for the ‘big push’ at the Somme. Having arrived at Longueau by train on 24 June, the battalion marched to St Sauveur, a village near Amiens, where they spent the next week in preparation for the British attack.


* * *


The story of the Battle of the Somme is well documented, but even a century later the shock of the numbers of those lost reverberates as strongly as ever. On the opening day of the assault, 1 July 1916, when 100,000 troops were sent over the top, 19,000 soldiers lost their lives in the single bloodiest day in the history of the British Army – deaths at the rate of one every five seconds. The Battle of the Somme would continue until the middle of November, but that opening day remained the worst in term of casualties. The Germans, who had prepared for the assault for the best part of two years, were more than ready to face whatever the British could throw at them.


The 23rd Division was initially there as a back-up unit to III Corps and for the 34th Division in particular. Such were the casualties on that opening three days, the 34th Division lost a total of 6,591 men, and, as one account put it, ‘ceased to exist as an effective fighting force’. Thus Bell’s brigade was brought into play. They were assigned part of the line to the south of La Boisselle. The goal was to make it as far as the village of Contalmaison, where the Germans were heavily entrenched. It was a position that was protected by an area known as Horseshoe Trench. As the name suggests, this curved stretch of defence was just under a mile in length and had a machine gun that was well concealed and deadly to any advancing troops.


July the 4th, the first day of the assault by the 9th Battalion and 11th West Yorkshires, proved futile. At four o’clock the following morning, it was the turn of the 11th West Yorkshires and 10th Duke of Wellingtons. As 5 July wore on, it wasn’t until late afternoon that any sort of progress was made: at this point, the order went out for Bell’s 9th Battalion to attack over open ground. The hostility of the German defences aside, the weather made conditions for such an attack appalling: heavy rain had reduced the battlefield to something approaching a quagmire.


As the battalion attacked, they came under fire from a machine-gun position, suffering heavy casualties. It was here that Bell stepped up, taking it upon himself to deal with the gunner. Followed by two colleagues, Corporal Colwill and Private Batey, Bell made his way carefully along a communications trench, until they were within thirty metres of the gunner. It was here that the acceleration so noted in Bell’s football career came into play. Dashing full speed across open ground, Bell managed to shoot the machine-gunner with his revolver before he could swing round and return fire: then, with a carefully aimed Mills bomb, he took out the machine-gun unit once and for all. The three of them continued to throw their bombs into the trench, and by the end of their attack more than fifty Germans had been killed. Bell’s brave actions allowed the battalion to take Horseshoe Trench, both strategically crucial and saving myriad lives in the process.


It was the decisive moment in a terrible couple of days’ fighting. As Archie White later wrote in the Regimental Gazette: ‘Probably no one else on the front could have done what Bell did. Laden by steel helmet, haversack, revolver, ammunition and Mills bomb in their pouches, he was yet able to hurl himself at the German trench at such speed that the enemy would hardly believe what their eyes saw.’8


‘When the battalion went over,’ Bell wrote in a letter to his mother two days later after the attack:




I, with my team, crawled up a communication trench and attacked the gun and the trench, and I hit the gun first shot from about 20 yards and knocked it over. We then bombed the dugouts and did in about 50 Bosches [sic]. The GOC has been over to congratulate the battalion and personally thanked me. I must confess that it was the biggest fluke alive and I did nothing. I only chucked one bomb but it did the trick. The CO says I saved the situation for this gun was doing all the damage. I had a grand little lad with me, only 19, who did all the work and I think both he and I will be recommended for something.9





That something was the Victoria Cross. The citation, published a couple of months later, announced that the award was:




for most conspicuous bravery. During an attack a very heavy enfilade fire was opened on the attacking company by a hostile machine gun. 2nd Lt. Bell immediately, and on his own initiative, crept up a communication trench and then, followed by Corpl. Colwill and Pte. Batey, rushed across the open under very heavy fire and attacked the machine gun, shooting the firer with his revolver, and destroying gun and personnel with bombs. This very brave act saved many lives and ensured the success of the attack.





* * *


Bell never received the award in person. Nor, indeed, was he ever aware of it. As the citation goes on to say, ‘Five days later this gallant officer lost his life performing a very similar act of bravery.’ By 10 July, Bell’s success at Horseshoe Trench had helped the British reach their goal of the village of Contalmaison. The Germans, however, were countering strongly, and Bell was among a number sent to assist 8th Battalion, who were under strong attack. According to one account,




Bell dashed forward with an armful of bombs, and started to clear out a hornet’s nest of Huns who were ready to take toll of our advancing troops. He advanced with great courage right up to where the enemy were posted. He took careful aim, and bowled out several of the Germans. Unfortunately he was hit . . . for a while he fought on, but was hit again. He got weaker and weaker and had to relax his efforts. He collapsed suddenly and when we reached him he was dead.10





It was decided by Bell’s father that it should be his widow, Rhoda, who should accept the award: they had been married just over a month when Bell was killed. On 13 December 1916, she received a first-class rail warrant and made her way from Cheshire to London, where she was presented with the medal by King George V at Buckingham Palace.


The actions of Donald Bell continue to be remembered to this day. That is true of his former regiment, where the Green Howards Regimental Museum includes, among other items, the helmet worn by Bell when he was killed. And it’s true of the football world, too: Bell’s Victoria Cross resides today at the National Football Museum. A memorial to Bell where he died – now known as Bell’s Redoubt – was unveiled in 2000 by Major General Richard Dannatt, then Colonel of the regiment. The project received funding from the Professional Footballers’ Association, the Football Association and the Football League.


One of the most moving memorials to Bell came in a letter to Rhoda from his batman, Private John Byers. In November 1916, he wrote to Rhoda in response to her request for more information about her husband’s death:




Believe me, dear madam, what I told my wife was just the truth, if there is any debt, it is on my side and that is a very deep debt of gratitude, also all my Company that were left. They worshipped him in their simple, wholehearted way and so they ought, he saved the lot of us from being completely wiped out, by his heroic act. We have lost the best officer and gentleman that ever was with the Battalion and we have lost some good ones.11
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GROUP CAPTAIN LEONARD CHESHIRE VC
(later Baron Cheshire of Woodhall)


Introduced by John Simpson CBE


Human beings are almost never just one thing – evil, stupid, saintly, heroic. We’re too complex to be summed up in a single word. All the same, I’ve come across two genuine heroes in my time, people whose heroism just seemed to pervade their whole character. One was Nelson Mandela. The other was Leonard Cheshire VC.


It was in 1989 that I met Leonard. A BBC programme wanted an interview with him, and I drove to his house at Cavendish, in Suffolk, to see him. His wife, Sue Ryder, a hero in her own right, brought us a tray of tea and biscuits. ‘If I leave you to it you’re likely to get more out of him. But nobody really succeeds, you know!’


Leonard certainly wasn’t hostile: quite the reverse. But he was shy, which didn’t make things easy, and above all he was amazingly modest. And it was clear to me that this was genuine, not assumed for effect. He had a charming, quizzical look, with his eyes twinkling under his thick eyebrows, and instead of grinning he would purse his lips while the rest of his face seemed to glow with amusement.


As for the extraordinary feats of courage which won him his VC, I failed utterly to get anything of broadcastable value. ‘I don’t think I ever did anything the rest didn’t do,’ he countered. Then he would purse his lips in his anti-smile once again.


A friend of his from the war had told me that what he admired most about Cheshire was the way he’d insist on going out on the most dangerous missions with young air crew who were brand new to the job. As a Wing Commander, he certainly wasn’t obliged to put his life in such regular danger, and his superiors disapproved. But there was no stopping Cheshire.


‘Why did you do that sort of thing?’ I asked him in our interview. It was the only time in our interview that he talked about his feelings.


‘I felt really sorry for some of these kids. They were scared stiff, but they didn’t want to show it. It just seemed natural to give them a bit of support. I’m glad I could do it.’ And he smiled his brilliant smile.


Even among the rare group of individuals who have been awarded the Victoria Cross, there remain some men whose life story stands out. Such is the case of Leonard Cheshire. While most awards of the medal cite a specific date or incident, such was Cheshire’s contribution in the skies of the Second World War that his citation stretches from 1940 through to 1944: ‘In four years of fighting against the bitterest opposition he has maintained a record of outstanding personal achievement, placing himself invariably in the forefront of the battle. What he did in the Munich operation [an air assault in April 1944] was typical of the careful planning, brilliant execution and contempt for danger which has established for Wing Commander Cheshire a reputation second to none in Bomber Command.’


These outstanding achievements form only part of Cheshire’s remarkable life. In the aftermath of the Second World War, he was at the forefront of providing help and recognition for the disabled. The Leonard Cheshire Disability charity that he founded in 1948 has grown both in the UK and beyond, becoming an international network providing care and support in more than fifty countries.


Voted thirty-first in a 2002 BBC poll of the 100 Greatest Britons, Cheshire has been described by the London Evening Standard as ‘the outstanding Englishman of his generation’ and by as notable a figure as Jawaharlal Nehru as ‘the greatest man I have met since Gandhi’. Sir Alec Guinness, who like Cheshire was received into the Catholic Church at Petersfield, Hampshire, once commented that, ‘In good time, I suppose the process will start which will lead to him being called Blessed; and eventually, I hope, his canonisation.’


As such, an attempt to capture such an extraordinary life in a few thousand words can only begin to scratch the surface of Cheshire’s many achievements. It is to be hoped that this brief essay will give a flavour of the man as an individual, and encourage those interested to explore his life in more detail.


* * *


It seems fitting that at the time of Leonard Cheshire’s birth in Chester on 7 September 1917 his father, Geoffrey, was away serving with the Royal Flying Corps. Unlike his son, Geoffrey Cheshire was never a pilot himself – his poor eyesight ruled him out – but instead was a military observer, rising high above Arras and Ypres in a kite balloon to help direct artillery shelling.


Two years before the war, Geoffrey had been made a fellow in law at Exeter College, Oxford (earlier he had gained a first at Merton), and so, after the war, he returned to his post, a position he would hold until 1944. The family – Geoffrey, his wife, Primrose, and their sons Leonard and Christopher – lived on the Woodstock Road until the end of the 1920s, when they moved to Cothill in Berkshire. In 1925, Leonard was sent to The Dragon School in Oxford where, rather than spotting his future greatness, it marked him as being ‘not terribly good at anything’. He remained at The Dragon until 1931, before gaining a scholarship to Stowe School in Buckinghamshire, then a relatively new public school. Here he had the good fortune to be taught English by the celebrated novelist T. H. White.


Cheshire did not stand out at Stowe either. His headmaster, John Roxburgh, later described him as ‘very successful in the ordinary sense of the word’ and said, ‘I cannot remember that Leonard made more impression on his generation than several others did.’ Cheshire’s father wanted his son to follow in his footsteps and study jurisprudence at Merton. Writing a reference for him in 1935, Roxburgh gave him a mixed report: ‘Young Cheshire is an excellent boy. As a scholar he is tasteful and hard-working but not very gifted.’ Despite this less than ringing endorsement, Cheshire won a place and went up to Oxford in October 1936. His last summer before university was spent in Potsdam, Germany, where he stayed at the house of a retired admiral, Ludwig von Reuter. It would have been an interesting time to have been in Germany, and von Reuter sounds an intriguing host (each of his sons was named after a different German warship), but accounts differ on how much Cheshire actually saw of the politics of the time – from not very much at all to getting into trouble for refusing to give a Nazi salute at a Hitler rally.


Either way, armed with near-fluent German, Cheshire returned to Oxford to begin his degree. Here, too, stories abound of a high-spirited student lifestyle, what actually happened mixed, no doubt, with the apocryphal: downing an entire bottle of whisky in one go; winning a bet of a pint of beer that he couldn’t hitch-hike to Paris with only a handful of change in his pocket, racing cars by running in front of them down the Iffley Road. At the same time as these high jinks, however, there is a strong sense of Cheshire growing and maturing as a young man as well.


This period also saw the beginning of Cheshire’s flying career, when he swapped the Officer Training Corps (OTC), which he hated, for the Oxford University Air Squadron (OUAS), which he loved. Cheshire showed a natural talent for flying, though not everyone was convinced: Wing Commander Herbert, the chief flying instructor in 1937, considered him ‘a sort of ne’er-do-well’, and if he’d had his way would have thrown him out of the OUAS. Cheshire, though, continued to train hard, both regularly at OUAS’s base in Abingdon and also on the longer camps in the summer vacation. Now everything seemed to happen at once: a frenzied revision for final examinations in June 1939; the declaration of war on 3 September; acceptance onto an RAF training course, beginning in early October.


Cheshire took this course at Hullavington in Wiltshire. Preliminary training took place between October and Christmas, the intermediate section, weather permitting, between January and March. He passed comfortably, with the comments in his Service Record describing him as ‘an average pilot who can be relied upon to do good work. Instrument flying exceptionally steady and accurate. Should make good leader with experience.’ From here he went to the No. 10 Operational Unit (OTU) at Abingdon where he began training on flying the Armstrong Whitworth Whitley, a vehicle used for long-range bombing raids. After taking further courses in armament training and flying by night, his training was finished, just as the withdrawal from Dunkirk was complete.


* * *


In June 1940, Cheshire became part of 102 Squadron, based at Driffield in Yorkshire. As a novice pilot, he was initially assigned to a crew and it wasn’t long before he was sent out on his first sortie – a bombing raid to blow up a road bridge at Abbeville in northern France. The crew was led by Pilot Officer Frank Long, who let Cheshire fly the Whitley over England, before taking over once they left the Sussex coast behind. For Cheshire, watching as the bombs were dropped over France, it was a sobering experience. ‘Somehow it had not quite been what I expected,’ he wrote in Bomber Pilot, ‘not enough glamour, and too much to learn.’1


In his first fifteen days, Cheshire flew on five sorties. It was on his next, on a mission to bomb a nitrogen plant at Ludwigshafen-Oppau, that seems the most important; here Cheshire found himself under attack for the first time as anti-aircraft fire shook the Whitley. He was relieved to see how he responded: ‘God knows I have suffered real, hopeless fear,’ he later wrote, ‘but I am not afraid of ack-ack . . . It is nothing to be proud of, but it is something to cash in on.’2


After six weeks, Cheshire had flown twenty operations under Long and was considered ready to take charge of his own crew: sorties to Cologne, Frankfurt and Milan soon followed. Other experiences came closer to home when an enemy counter-raid identified Driffield as its target, Cheshire fleeing for his life as the Luftwaffe bombed the airfield, killing fifteen and destroying ten Whitleys in the process. The remainder of 102 Squadron went to RAF Leeming, where they were assigned to 15 group Coastal Command, helping to escort convoys. Compared to the bombing raids, this felt routine work and Cheshire was relieved when the squadron was moved to Linton-on-Ouse and the attacks on the European mainland – the ‘real’ job – could begin again. Attacks on Pretzch, Lunen and Ruhland followed.


On the night of 12/13 November, Cheshire’s war almost came to a premature end. On a mission to Wessling to bomb the synthetic oil plant there, low cloud led to Cheshire switching the target to nearby Cologne. Richard Rivaz, Cheshire’s tail gunner, describes in his book, also called Tail Gunner, what happened next:




I remember a deafening explosion and a blinding red flash which seemed to be inside my head and behind my eyes. I was falling through darkness . . . I felt I was still in my turret, but could not see it; everything was dark and silent and the engines had gone. I knew we had been hit and I imagined the shell must have burst somewhere behind my turret and blown it from the aeroplane . . . I crawled forward through the smoke and flames. God, what a mess! The fuselage door had gone and most of one side of the fuselage as well. Desmond [Coutts, second pilot] was there, working like a maniac, with his blond hair shining in the light of the flames . . . sweat was pouring off his face and he was hurling flares, incendiaries and spare ammunition out of the gaping fuselage. I started to do the same . . . he shouted at me to go back and get my parachute as the plane would probably break in two.3





Cheshire, meanwhile, was trying to keep his cool. As Rivaz and Coutts put the fire out, he focused on keeping the plane together, which, miraculously, was still just about holding up. After the heat from the fire, freezing wind was now an issue. Davidson, the wireless operator, who was on his first operation, had been hit in the blast and his face was badly burned: Rivaz describes putting his fingers in his mouth and breathing on them to try to keep them warm. The wind, too, had blown away the Whitley’s maps. So, having dropped their bombs (Cheshire was not going home without fulfilling his mission), getting the aircraft back involved five hours of flying purely on memory, instinct and good fortune. It was a miraculous return and for his efforts Cheshire was awarded the DSO (Distinguished Service Order), the first junior officer in Bomber Command to be decorated at this level since the beginning of the war.


Promoted to flying officer (and to flight lieutenant six months later), Cheshire was moved to 35 Squadron, where he had a new plane to master: the Halifax. It was a bigger, better, more sophisticated plane but one still relatively hot off the production line and still in need of fine-tuning. Cheshire didn’t fly a mission in one until April 1941 and when problems with the undercarriage were discovered, he was seconded, along with a fellow pilot, G. S. Williams, for Atlantic ferrying duties. There followed a journey by boat to Canada and a confused arrival in Montreal, where no one seemed to know what they should be doing. Put on standby, Cheshire and Williams headed for New York.


Here, among the days of partying, Cheshire met the American actress Constance Binney. Older than Cheshire and twice divorced, she had found fame during the silent movie era. The two quickly hit it off and were swiftly engaged; despite his parents’ wishes, they were married on 15 July. Six days into the whirlwind romance, Cheshire was heading back to the UK, his wife set to follow him.


Returning to base to find the Halifax in better working order, Cheshire continued his raids – Berlin (three times), Cologne, Karlsruhe, Duisberg and Gelsenkirchen were just some of his targets in the coming weeks. At the end of August, Cheshire found himself taken off ‘ops’, his second tour complete (the longer a tour went on, so the theory went, the less the chance of survival). Cheshire was promoted to squadron leader and flight commander, but would rather have been back flying missions. He did, though, take the chance to write a book about his experiences: Bomber Pilot would become a bestseller.


After a brief period with 1652 Conversion Flight at RAF Marston Moor – during which he took part in Bomber Command’s Millennium campaign of attacks by 1,000 aircraft – Cheshire was promoted to Wing Commander and became the youngest commanding officer of 76 Squadron on his third tour. Here, Cheshire showed great leadership, not only boosting the morale of the men under him at a time when their Halifax planes continued to be temperamental, but getting stuck into the mechanics of making them better flying machines. He completed his third tour successfully and in March 1943 became group captain at RAF Marston Moor: he was a bombing chief at the age of just twenty-five.


It was a considerable honour, but Cheshire missed operational duties and was desperate to get back into the air again. The opportunity came up when a vacancy appeared as commander of the celebrated Squadron 617. Cheshire’s delight was matched by his wife Constance’s disappointment at her husband being away and putting himself in danger again. The squadron had previously been under the command of Wing Commander Guy Gibson, set up to attack the dams of the Ruhr. The squadron flew Lancaster bombers and by the time of Cheshire’s command a new weapon was being developed in the shape of Tallboy, a huge bomb that worked by burying itself into the ground and exploding beneath its target. Using the newly developed Stabilized Automatic Bomb Sight (SABS), these could in theory be dropped with precision from a height of 13,000 feet.


As Cheshire started his command, it was clear the squadron’s bombing was not as accurate as it could have been. The answer, developed by Cheshire, was for marker planes to fly in low and, essentially, lay down a pyrotechnic guide for the other Lancasters to aim at. On 7 February 1944, Cheshire put the plan into action on a bombing raid on Limoges. Piloting one of the advance planes, Cheshire flew in low – ‘almost scraped the factory roof’ was how one observer put it – and laid his markers. The Lancaster bombers were called in, with Cheshire’s markings guiding them to a perfect hit.


More attacks followed using the new system, including factories at Albert, St-Etienne-la-Ricamarie, Clermont-Ferrand and Bergerac. Cheshire’s marking role saw him switch planes to the Mosquito, lighter and faster, both of which qualities were crucial when flying in so low. On 22 April, the squadron took part in a huge raid on Munich, with 617 teaming up with 83 and 97 Squadrons to form a fleet of some 250 Lancaster bombers. Cheshire in his Mosquito was marker leader. It was both a daring raid and an extremely dangerous one – Cheshire found himself taking the plane straight down from 5,000 feet at speeds touching 480mph to set his markers. The flames created by the bombing could be seen from hundreds of miles away.


On 13 June, Cheshire led an attack on the German fleet at Le Havre. The ships, rather than being spread out between three ports, as they should have been, were temporarily crammed into one – Le Havre. In total 200 Lancasters took part in the attack: their precisely dropped Tallboys did the necessary damage. The raids continued, culminating in an attack on Mimoyecques in the region of Pas-de-Calais in northern France on 6 July, home of one of Germany’s V-weapons sites. As with many other of the 617 attacks, it was almost routine in its success, but turned out to be significant for another reason: it was the end of Cheshire’s fourth tour and the last of the hundred sorties he had flown over the previous four years.


When Leonard Cheshire’s Victoria Cross was announced in September 1944, Tatler put him on the front cover and hailed him as ‘the greatest bomber pilot in the world’. The Evening Standard concurred, calling him ‘the greatest bomber pilot of them all’. Back at his old school, Stowe, his former headmaster declared a school holiday in honour of his achievements.


Cheshire’s war was almost over. He took a placement in India with Air Command South East Asia (ACSEA). This did not go down well with Constance, who returned to New York. Barely had she arrived before she became seriously ill, and Cheshire flew to the USA to be with her. He felt bad about leaving his post in India, but he knew he should be with his wife. A position was found for him as part of the RAF delegation in Washington, allowing him to stay on in the country. Cheshire and Constance would divorce in 1951, with Cheshire remarrying in 1959 (his second wife was the humanitarian Sue Ryder).


In mid-July 1945, the US successfully tested an atomic bomb at Alamogordo, New Mexico. Two weeks later, Cheshire found himself on the tiny Western Pacific island of Tininan as preparations got underway to use the weapon against the Japanese. He was there as the British observer, to watch the atomic bomb in action. On 9 August he was taken up in one of the American B-29s en route to Japan. The original target was Kokura, but cloud cover meant a switch to a second target: Nagasaki. Cheshire watched from the bomber as the bomb was dropped.


In his biography of Cheshire, Richard Morris wrote:




When Cheshire turned to face it, the fireball had already risen several thousand feet. Dust and smoke rocketed heavenward, blooming like some ‘large piece of silk that had been compressed and then suddenly released, just expanding and unwrapping and unrolling’ . . . Cheshire was bewitched by the symmetry of the ascending cloud. He sketched it. At its base was a boiling blackness: above, a turbulent stem of smoke, ash and dust which had an ‘evil kind of luminous quality’, not white, ‘the colour of sulphur’.4





After the war, Cheshire, like so many, found it difficult to adjust to normal life. He tried to do something about this, setting up VIP (Vade in Pacem), a community where people could live and work together, both helping those who had fought in the war and trying to recapture some of the communal spirit that had seen them win it. It was a laudable idea, but arguments among those living there and financial difficulties brought the project down. He sold most of the estate of Le Court, a Victorian mansion in Hampshire that he had bought for the project, keeping the house and little else.


One of those who had been a member of VIP before its disbandment was Arthur Dykes. Dykes was dying of cancer and, having no home to go to, Cheshire took him in. Almost by chance, he had found a new purpose and he nursed Dykes until he died. This led to Cheshire wondering if there were others in a similar position who also needed help. It became clear that there were. Soon, more patients arrived, those suffering with TB, with disabilities, those who were dying. So, too, came people who wanted to help. Having been empty for so long, Le Court was suddenly full and thriving. Cheshire’s charity work, which would dominate the second half of his life, had begun.
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GENERAL SIR WALTER CONGREVE VC AND MAJOR WILLIAM CONGREVE VC


Introduced by Michael Whitehall and Jack Whitehall


This is a very touching story about a father and son which particularly resonated with us, as they, like us, ended up ‘working’ together, although in their case in much more extreme and dangerous circumstances. We both identified with the fact that they clearly enjoyed each other’s company and spent a lot of time together, and even when circumstances kept them apart they kept in touch daily, just as we do today. An inspiring story of courage and bravery, Walter and William Congreve, father and son, are a shining example to us all.


For a father and son to be awarded the Victoria Cross is exceptional. It has happened just three times since the introduction of the award: Major (later General) Charles Gough (1857) and his son, Major (later Brigadier General) John ‘Johnnie’ Gough (1903); Lieutenant (later Field Marshal Lord) Frederick Roberts (1858) and his son, Lieutenant Frederick ‘Freddy’ Roberts (1899); and Captain (later General) Walter Congreve (1899) and his son, Major William ‘Billy’ Congreve (1916). Tragically, in each case the son met an untimely end. Freddy Roberts and Billy Congreve were awarded their VCs posthumously, while Johnnie Gough was killed visiting trenches in 1915.


The last father and son to be awarded the Victoria Cross hailed from a family that was synonymous with the British Army. Sir William Congreve (1742–1814) had revolutionised British artillery through a reform of gunpowder production and storage. His son, also Sir William (1772–1828), was the pioneer of the famous ‘Congreve Rockets’ of the Napoleonic Wars, a weapon immortalised in the American national anthem.* Subsequent generations served in the 3rd Light Dragoons and 9th Foot. Walter, born on 20 November 1862, was always destined for military service. He joined the Rifle Brigade at the comparatively late age of twenty-three and was immediately nicknamed ‘Squibs’ in reference to the rocket of his illustrious ancestor.


Walter stood out as a ‘true iron man’ in an army that prided itself on physical and mental toughness. His wife remembered Walter’s ‘great dislike of luxury of any sort. Dislike is too mild a word – he had a horror of it. A meal in a smart restaurant was a misery to him.’ His fit, wiry frame concealed the fact that he suffered from chronic asthma and he was prone to severe bouts of bronchitis. But he regarded the handicap, which would have barred him from entry into the modern military, as a challenge that could be overcome ‘by sheer force of will’. His capacity for pushing himself through pain was legendary and drew the quiet admiration of officers and men.


Walter was a keen sportsman and was particularly fond of football. In 1895 he played in a notorious game between the officers of the 4th Battalion, the Rifle Brigade and 2nd King’s Own Scottish Borderers. It was described at the time as ‘a spirited and sporting football match’, but a spectator remembered, ‘Spirited the play certainly was, for the charging which took place would have struck dumb with horror the manager of a present-day professional football team’. In the second half, ‘the charging became even more vigorous still, and the ground at times presented the appearance of a battlefield, which roused the spectators to a high pitch of enthusiasm’. The crowd was ‘as pleased when one of their own officers was “grassed” as they were when one of their opponents took a toss’. The Rifle Brigade eventually emerged with a 2–1 victory.


At the outbreak of the Boer War (1899–1902), Walter was posted to the 2nd Battalion, the Rifle Brigade in South Africa, Unfortunately, upon arrival in the country he discovered that the unit he was meant to join was trapped in the besieged garrison town of Ladysmith. Without a post, Congreve attached himself to the headquarters of the British commander General Sir Redvers Buller VC and was given the unfancied position of press censor.


Buller commanded the Natal Field Force which was marching to lift the siege of Ladysmith. The Boers, led by future president of South Africa Louis Botha, intended to block the advance and had dug in on the far bank of the Tugela River opposite the village of Colenso. It was an extremely strong defensive position. But Buller, conscious that every day wasted brought the garrison of Ladysmith closer to starvation, could not afford to delay. He had little choice but to make an immediate attack. A frontal assault over the narrow fords that crossed the river was a daunting task and Buller called upon his artillery to soften up the enemy lines. Unfortunately, the gunners were deceived by Boer dummy trenches dug along high ground and directed their fire against this empty position. It inflicted virtually no casualties on the defenders, who were concealed along the riverbank, and merely alerted them that an attack was imminent.
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